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TESSIE WILKINSON,

Plaintiff,
vs.

RODNEY WILKINSON,

DECI)
STEINBERG & DAWSON LAW GROUP
DAIIIELLE DAWSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 1 1792
4270 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite Bl0
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Telephone: (7O2) 384-9664
Facsimile: (7O2) 384-9668
Email: danielle@steinberglarvgroup.com
Attomey for Plaintiff

DISTRICT COURT, FAMILY DIVISION
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

)
)
) CASE NO: D-19-596071-D
) DEPTNO: G
)
)
)

Defendant. )

DECREE OF DIVORCE

This cause coming before the Court on Request for Summary Disposition, the Plaintiff,

TESSIE WILKINSON, by and through her attomey, DANIELLE DAWSON, ESQ., of

STEII\BERG & DAWSON LAW GROUP; and the Defendant RODNEY WILKINSON,

appearing in proper person.

WHEREAS the parties have reached a flrll resolution to the outstanding issues in this

matter.

WHEREAS throughout the last several years of marriage, Rodney Wilkinson has

divested the community of assets constituting substantial commrurity waste as follows:

1. Transferred community funds including five years of earnings to Jill Strnad and or

Tanika Stevenson;

RECETVED

FEB 0 q 2020

Department G
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2. Divested the community of gold coins valued at over $100,000 by gifting them to

Jill Strnad;

3. Divested the community of a2004 Corvette by gifting it to Tanika Stevenson;

4. Transferred ownership of a $1,000,000 life insurance policy on himself to Jill

Stmad;

Therefore,

IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED that the following commrmity property shall be set

over and hereby awarded to Rodney Wilkinson as his sole and separate property:

l. The Chewolet Suburban VIN ending n9469;

2. All personal property owned prior to the marriage;

3. Any and all current and future retirement accormts, savings plans, IRA, pension

plans or otherwise in his name only not otherwise herein named;

4. Any and all wearing apparel, personal ornaments, and jewelry belonging to him;

5. Any and all bank accounts in his name only not otherwise herein named; and

6. Any personal items currently in his possession.

IT IS FURTIfiR STIPULATED that the following community prop€rty shall be set

over and hereby awarded to the Tessie Wilkinson as her sole and separate property:

1. US Bank account ending in the numbers 8904 with a current approximate value of

$373;

2. The real property located at 8382 Hollywood Hills Ave, Las Vegas, Nevada

89178;

3. The real property located at5730 Road 10, Goodland, Kansas 67735;

4. The2012 Chevrolet Corvette VIN ending in0723;
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5, The Service Truck VIN 2GCFK29K95L2O6963;

6. T\e 1977 Kenworth Winch Truck VIN l55l97SG2;

7. The following heavy equipment:

a. P & H 140 Ton crane , Model 9125-TC;

b. Manitowac 100 ton crane, Model 39004, SN 39670;

c, Lima 90 ton crane, Model 990TC;

d. P & H 90 ton crane, Model 8115TC, SN 35419;

e. P&H50toncrane;

f. P&H25toncrane;

g. P&HT0toncrane;

h. 2 bulldozers;

i. 1977 Kenworth VIN 055097SGL;

j. 1972 PeterbilttD 41337p,F17p364802;

k. 1955 Mack VIN 8705T1209;

l. 1955 Kenworth VIN 64338;

m. 1959 Mack VIN B7351370;

n. 1962Mack winch truck;

o. 6000 Cherry Picker;

p. 100 ton press;

q. Lo Boy 35 ton Cozad Trailer # CC80062;

r. 1993 Westem Sur Boom Truck Serial No. 2WKPDCCHIPK93ll54.

s. 750 Holmes Wrecker Tow Truck;

t. Autocar Winch Truck;
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u. Maritime Hydraulic Drilling Rig;

v. Any and all tools located at 5730 Road 10, Goodland, Kansas 67735.

8. Any and all rights assigned to Rodney Wilkinson through tJre contract with Dan

Fontenot of Synergy Oil Field Services, LLC.

9. All personal property owned prior to the marriage;

10. Any and all current and future retirement accounts, savings plans, IRA, pension

plans or othsrwise in her name only;

I l. Any and all wearing apparel, personal ornaments, and jewelry belonging to her;

12. Any and all bank accounts in her name only; and

13. Any personal items currently in her possession.

IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED that the following community debts shall be set over

and hereby awarded to Rodney Wilkinson as his sole and separate debts:

l. The loan on the real property located at5730 Road 10, Goodland, Kansas 67735;

2. The loan through Dorman Renewable Fuels, LLC in the approximate amorurt o1

$2o,ooo;

3. Any and all tax debts in his name only;

4. Any and all student loan debs in his name only;

5. Any and all credit card debt in his name only;

6. Any and all credit instruments in his name only.

IT IS FURTIIER STIPULATED that the following community debts shall be set over

and hereby awarded to Tessie Wilkinson as her sole and separate debts:

l. The Chase credit account ending in the numbers 9416 with an approximate

current balance of $3,860;
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2. The US Bank credit account ending in the numbers 9270 with an approximate

current balance of $4,300;

4.

5.

Any and all student loan debts in her name only;

Any and all credit card debt in her name only;

Any and all credit instruments in her name only.

IT IS FIIRTHER STIPULATED that each party shall bear their own attomey's fees

and costs in this matter.

IT IS FURTHER STIPULATED that Tessie Wilkinson shall return to her maiden nam

to wit: Tessie Elma Almario.

IT IS SO STIPULATED.

DATED this Z\ day of F.ffra<,r 2020. DATED this t?'L day of 1-*r.,'l ,2020.

DAWSON, ESQ.
NevadaBarNo. 11792
Attomey for Plaintiff

ORDER

UPON THE FOREGOING STIPULATION of the parties, and this appearing to be a

proper case therefor:

THAT the Court has complete jurisdiction in the premises, both as to the subject matter

thereof as well as the parties thereto;

THAT the Plaintiff now is, and has been, an acnnl bona fide resident of the County of

Clarh State of Nevada, and has been actually domiciled therein for more than six (6) weeks

immediately preceding the verification of the Complaint for Divorce in this action;

RODI\EY WILKINSON
Defendant in Proper Person
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THAT the parties were duly and legally married on March 22,2008 in Burlington,

Colorado and have been since that time, and are at the present time, husband and wife.

THAT the Plaintiff believes that all of the allegations contained in her Complaint for

Divorce are true and that the Plaintiff is entitled to the relief sought subject to the terms as set

forth in this Decree of Divorce;

TIIAT the parties have waived Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, written Notice of

Entry of Judgment, and to move for a new Trial in said cause;

THAT there are no minor children born the issue of this ma:riage. No minor children

were adopted and Plaintiffis not now pregnant.

NOW THEREFORE, by reason of the law in such cases made and provided, and the

Court deeming this a proper case therefore,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the bonds of matrimony heretofore and now existing

between Plaintiffand Defendant be, and the same are hereby wholly dissolved, and an absolute

Decree of Divorce is hereby granted to the Plaintiff and each of the parties hereto is hereby

restored to the status of a single, unmarried person.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the following community property shall be set over

and hereby awarded to Rodney Wilkinson as his sole and separate property:

1. The Chevrolet Suburban VIN ending in 9469;

2. All personal property owned prior to the marriage;

3. Any and all current and future retirement accounts, savings plans, IRA, pension plans or

otherwise in his name only not otherwise herein named;

4. Any and all wearing apparel, personal ornaments, and jewelry belonging to him;

5. Any and all bank accounts in his name only not otherwise herein named; and
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6. Any personal items currently in his possession.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the following community property shall be set over

and hereby awarded to the Tessie Wilkinson as her sole and separate property:

l. US Bank account ending in the numbers 8904 with a current approximate value of

$373;

2. The real property located at 8382 Hollywood Hills Ave, Las Vegas, Nevada

89178;

3. The real property located at5730 Road 10, Goodland, Kansas 67735;

4. The2O12 Chevrolet Corvette VIN ending itO723;

5. The Service Truck YIN 2GCFK29K9512O6963;

6. T\e 1977 Kenworth Winch Truck VIN 155197SG2;

7. The following heavy equipment:

a. P & H 140 Ton crane, Model 9125-TC1,

b. Manitowac 100 ton crane, Model 3900A, SN 39670;

c. Lima 90 ton crane, Model 990TC;

d. P & H 90 ton crane, Model 81 15TC, SN 35419;

e. P&H50toncrane;

f. P&H25toncrane;

B.P&HT0toncrane;

h. 2 bulldozers;

i. 1977 KenworthVIN 055097SGL;

j. 1972 Peterbilt lD 41337P, FHP364802;

k. 1955 Mack VIN B7O5TI209;
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l. 1955 KenworthVlN 64338;

m.1959 Mack VIN B73S1370;

t. 1962 Mack winch truck;

o. 6000 Cherry Picker;

p. 100 ton press;

q. Lo Boy 35 ton Cozad Trailer # CC80062;

t. 1993 Western Star Boom Truck Serial No. 2WKPDCCHIPK931154;

s. 750 Holmes Wrecker Tow Truck;

t. Autocar Winch Truck;

u. Maritime Hydraulic Drilling Rig;

v. Any and all tools located at 5730 Road 10, Goodland, Kansas 67735.

14. Any and all rights assigned to Rodney Wilkinson through the contract with Df

Fontenot of Synergy Oil Field Services, LLC.

8. All personal property owned prior to the marriage;

9. Any and all current and future retirement accounts, savings plans, IRA, p"*iorf

plans or otherwise in her name only;

10. Any and all wearing apparel, personal ornaments, and jewelry belonging to her;

l11. Any and all bank accounts in her name only; and 
I

12. Any personal items currently in her possession. 
]

I

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that in the event that any property has been omitted frot
I

this Decree that would have been community property or olherwise jointly-held property underl

I

applicable law as ofthe date hereof, the concealing or possessory Party will transfer or convey tq

the other Party, atthe other Party's election: 
I

I
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(1) The full market value of the other Party's interest on the date of this Decree, plus

statutory interest through and including the date oftransfer or conveyance; or

(2) The flrll market value of the other Party's interest at the time that Pafiy discovers that

he has an interest in such property, plus statutory interest through and including the date

of transfer or conveyance; or

(3) An amount of the omitted property equal to the other Party's interest herein, if it is

reasonably suscvptible to division.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, except as otherwise specified herein, any and all

property acquired or income received by either pafiy from and after the date of entry of this

Decree shall be the sole and separate property ofthat party, and each party respectively grants to

the other all such further acquisitions ofproperty as the sole and separate property oft}te one so

acquiring the same. Each party shall have an immediate right to dispose of, or bequeath by Will,

his respective interest in and to any and all property belonging to him from and after the date

hereof, and such rights shall extend to all of the future acquisitions of property as well as to all

property set over to either of the parties hereto by this Decree.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the following community debts shall be set over and

hereby awarded to Rodney Wilkinson as his sole and separate debts:

l. The loan on the real propefty located at 5730 Road 10, Goodland" Kansas 67735;

2. The loan through Dorman Renewable Fuels, LLC in the approximate amount of

$20,000;

3. Any and all tax debts in his name only;

4. Any and all student loan debts in his name only;

5. Any and all credit card debt in his name only;
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6. Any and all credit instruments in his name only.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the following community debts shall be set over and

hereby awarded to Tessie Wilkinson as her sole and separate debts:

l. The Chase credit account ending in the numbers 9416 with an approximate

current balance of $3,860;

2. The US Bank credit ircount ending in the numbers 9270 with an approximale

current balance of $4,30O;

3. Any and all student loan debts in her name only;

4. Any and all credit card debt in her name only;

5. Any and all credit instruments in her name only.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that if any claim, action or proceeding is brought seeking

to hold the other party liable on account of any debt, obligation, liability act or omission assumed

by the other Party, such party will, at his or her sole expense, defend the other against any such

claim or demand and that he or she will indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the other Party.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Tessie Wilkinson shall receive the sum of $3,000

month from Rodney Wilkinson for the duration of her life as and for Spousal Support. Thi

amount shall be due on or before the 106 day of each month.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that if any claim, action or proceeding is brought seeking

to hold the other party liable on account of any deb! obligation, liability act or omission assumed

by the other Party, such party will, at his sole expense, defend the other against any such claim or

demand and that he will indemnifl, defend, and hold harmless the other Party.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that each ParU shall execute any and all legal documents,

certificates of title, bills of sale, deeds or other evidence transfer necessary to effectuate this

l0
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Decree and the division of community assets within thirty (30) days of the entry of this Decree,

except as otherwise provided herein. Should either party fail to execute any of said documents to

transfer interest to the other, then this Decree shall constitute a fi.rll transfer ofthe interest ofone

to the other, as herein provided. It is further agreed that pursuant to NRCP 70, ttre Clerk of the

Court shall be deemed to have hereby been appointed and empowered to sign, on behalfofthe

non-signing party, any of the said documents of transfer which have not been executed by the

party otherwise responsible for such.

IT IS FIIRTHER ORDERED that it is hereby mutually understood and agreed by and

between the parties hereto that lhis Decree of Divorce is deemed to be a final, conclusive and

integrated agreement between the parties, and that except as herein specified, each parfy hereto is

hereby released and absolved from any and all liabilities and obligations for the future and past

acts and duties ofthe other, and that each ofthe said parties hereby releases the other from any

and all liabilities, future accounts, alimony and support or otherwise, or debts or obligations of

any kind or character incurred by the other except as provided herein provided, it being

understood that his instrument is intended to settle finally and conclusively the rights of the

parties hereto in all respects arising out of their marital relationship except as provided herein.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the provisions in this Decree are fair and reasonable

and the parties agree to be bound by all its terms. The parties further acknowledge that they have

made an independent investigation into the existence and value of the assets and liabilities

divided hereunder, and the tax consequences, if any. The parties hereby waive any and all claims

against Danielle Dawson, Esq. of Steinberg Law Group related to the value and/or existence of

any asset divided hereunder or the tax consequences resulting therefrom. The parties frtrther

acknowledge that they did not receive tax advice from Danielle Dawson, Esq. and have been

ll
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advised to seek the advice of a tax expert for any tax related questions they may have. The

parties have further been advised to seek the advice of independent counsel regarding these

terms.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that each party acknowledges that they have read this

Decree of Divorce and fully understand the contents and accept the same as equitable and just,

that the parties agree this Decree of Divorce has been reached via negotiation and in the spirit of

compromise, and that there has been no promise, agreernsnt or understanding of either of the

parties to the other except as set forth herein, which have been relied upon by either as a matter

of inducement to enter into this agreement, and each party hereto has had the time and

opportunity to be advised by an attorney and has been encouraged to do so. The parties further

acknowledge that this stipulated Decree of Divorce is a global resolution of their case and that

each provision herein is made in consideration of all the terms in the Decree of Divorce as a

whole. The parties firther acknowledge that they have entered into this stipulated Decree of

Divorce without undue influence or coercion, or misrepresentation, or for any other cause except

as stated herein.

IT IS FURTIIER ORDERED that should it be necessary for either Party to enforce tle

terms of this Decree, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover their attomeys' fees and

costs.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the parties shall submit the information required in

NRS 1258.055, NRS 125.130 and NRS 125.230 on a separate form to the Court and the Welfare

Division of the DeparUnent of Human Resources within ten days from the date this Decree is

filed. Such information shall be maintained by the Clerk in a confidential manner and not part of

the pubtic record. The parties shall update the information filed with the Court and the Welfare

12
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Division of the Department of Human Resources within ten days should any of that information

become inaccurate.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Tessie Wilkinson shall retum to her maiden name to

wit: Tessie Elma Almario.

DATED ttris // day of

STEIITBERG & DAWSON LAW GROTJP

fl6
DANIELLE DA RODNEYWILKINSON

613 Eagle Drive Apt 36

Newtown, ND 58763
Defendant in Propet Person

Nevada Bar No. I1792
4270 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite Bl0
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Attomey for Defendant

l3
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VERITICATION OF TESSIE WILKINSON

I, Tessie Wilkinson, being duly swom under the penalties of perjury, depose and say:

I am the Plaintiff herein, and I have read the foregoing Stipulated Decree of Divorce and

know the contents thereof; that the same is true to the best of my own knowledge, except as to

those matters therein stated upon information and belief, and as to those matters, I believe them

to be true.

STATE OF NEVADA

COLINTY OF CLARK

SUBSCRIBED and SWORN to before me this dl day of

)
) ss.

)

SSIE WILKINSON

t4
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VERIFICATION OF' RODNEY WILKINSON

I, Rodney Wilkinson, being duly sworn under the penalfies of perjury, deposes and says:

I am the Defendant herein, and I have read the foregoing Stipulated Decree of Divorce

and know the contents thereof; that the same is true to the best of my own knowledge, except as

to those matters therein stated upon information and belief, and as to those matters, I believe

them to be true.

I mderstand that the foregoing document has been prepared by Danielle Dawson, Esq., of

the Law Firm of Steinberg & Dawson Law Group, who represents the interests of the Plaintiff,

Tessie Wilkinson, in the within action, and does not represent my interests in this matter.

I have been informed of my right to retain my own counsel.

STATE OF

COUNTYOF m'i\if

SUBSCRIBED and SWORN to before Me this day of 2020.
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, FAMILY DIVISION 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
 

 
 
TESSIE ELMA ALMARIO,  
 
                                Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
SHERYL ATTERBERG, ON 
BEHALF OF HER WARD  
RODNEY WILKINSON,  
 
  
                               Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO.:  D-19-596071-D 
DEPT NO.:  U 
 
Date of Hearing:   February 4, 2021 
Time of Hearing:  1:30 p.m. 
 
ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED 
 
PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO 
DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO SET 
ASIDE THE DIVORCE DECREE 
PURSUANT TO NRCP 60(b) and 
COUNTERMOTION FOR 
ATTORNEY’S FEES AND RELATED 
RELIEF. 

COMES NOW, Plaintiff, Tessie Elma Almario (“Tessie”), and hereby 

submits Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to set aside the divorce decree pursuant 

to NRCP 60(b) and Countermotion for attorney’s fees and related relief.   

  This opposition and countermotion is made and based on the following 

Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the declarations and exhibits, attached 

hereto, the papers and pleadings already on file herein, and any argument the Court 

may permit at the hearing of this matter. 

HOFLAND & TOMSHECK
Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 6343 
228 South 4th Street, 1st Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 895-6760 
Facsimile:   (702) 731-6910 
bradh@hoflandlaw.com  
Attorney for Plaintiff, Tessie Elma Almario 
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Based upon the facts of this case, coupled with applicable precedent, Tessie 

respectfully requests that this Court enter an Order: 

1. Denying Defendant’s motion in its entirety; 

2. Awarding Tessie attorney’s fees for having to respond to a patently 

frivolous motion and to misstatements of fact and law; and 

3. Addressing any additional relief this Court deems necessary. 

Dated this 2nd day of February, 2021. 

 
          HOFLAND & TOMSHECK 
 
 
               By:_/s/ Bradley J. Hofland__________ 
           Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
           State Bar of Nevada No. 6343 
           228 South 4th Street, First Floor 
           Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

         (702) 895-6760 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. 

Introduction 

There is no question the Defendant’s “guardian”1, Sheryl Atterberg 

(“Sheryl”) is attempting to pull a fast one on this Court.  Indeed, Sheryl further 

conceals the fact that she initiated a civil action2 against Tessie on December 3, 

2020, wherein she makes the same false claims3 and misstatements of fact.  It is 

significant to note Sheryl did not seek any injunctive relief or an order shortening 

time in the civil matter—which confirms her doing so in this matter was done in 

bad faith.  Perhaps she thinks a newly elected judge is more gullible and will 

succumb to baseless allegations designed to improperly inflame the Court rather 

than follow the law.  Respectfully, such an expectation is ill-judged and offensive. 

 Comparison of the instant motion with Sheryl’s filings in the civil action 

confirms this action is unquestionably a frantic, yet transparent maneuver, to 

manipulate this Honorable Court.  Because relevant facts and applicable precedent 

lend no support to her claims, Defendant substitutes fact with fiction, misstates, 

misapplies, and conceals applicable precedent, and egregiously violates the duty of 

candor that is owed this Honorable Court.  In short, Defendant demonstrates an ill-

 
1 As detailed infra, Defendant’s “Guardian” is an estranged sister who had nothing 
to do with her brother for decades, a fact conspicuously concealed from this Court.  
Her efforts and concerns have nothing to do with Rodney Wilkinson’s benefit, but 
rather, the personal gain she believes she will realize if her campaign of greed and 
dishonesty is successful. 
2 Case # A-20-825785-C; Notably, a motion to dismiss that action is Scheduled to 
be heard on February 9, 2021.  The motion and Tessie’s reply is submitted 
herewith as Exhibit “6” for the Court’s convenience and review.  Seeing the writing 
on the wall, Sheryl “jumps ship” and hopes for better luck with a “new” judge.  The 
fact truth and the law remain the same confirms the foolishness of Sheryl’s latest 
maneuver. 
3  Making claims of (1) Elder Abuse, (2) Constructive Fraud, and (3) Declaratory 
Relief, all predicated upon the patently false, and objectively disprovable, claims of 
the “guardian”.   
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judged belief that deceit and manipulation is appropriate if she will gain from such 

conduct.  

Sheryl resurrects the baseless argument a defamatory narrative she presented 

in the civil action, only this time she presents the matter before the court under the 

guise of “urgency”, hoping to prevent Tessie from informing the Court of her bad 

faith and deceit.   

Make no mistake—Defendant’s actions are not done for altruistic reasons. 

The dispositive facts—deliberately concealed by Defendant, confirms Defendant is 

simply selfish and opportunistic.  Aside from Defendant’s misguided belief that she 

is not bound by candor, Defendant’s actions and arguments also illuminates a 

disturbing willingness to ignore rules of the Court and controlling precedent. 

 Lastly, the narrative that Defendant has crafted is patently false, devoid of 

support and accuracy, and deliberately misleading.  Defendant shamelessly 

endeavors to manipulate this Court at all cost.  As a result, it is necessary to address 

Defendant’s dishonesty, provide the vital facts and corrections that Defendant has 

concealed, and reference the applicable precedent that is fatal to the relief 

Defendant seeks from this Court.  Sheryl’s motion is baseless.   

II. 

The Gross Errors of Defendants Prefatory Remarks 

Defendant’s motion is a gallimaufry4, comprised of false, misleading, and 

incomplete claims, liberally laced with naked allegations bearing no relation to the 

actual facts of this case and misstatements of both fact and law.  Furthermore, 

Defendant conceals earlier actions and the procedural history that confirms the 

instant motion, along with the request for an Order Shortening Time, was baseless 

and a manipulation of the legal system.   

 

 
4 A confused jumble or medley of things, or a dish made from diced or minced 
meat, especially a hash. 
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 From the onset of Defendant’s remarks to this Court, there is a disturbing 

lack of candor.  For example, Defendant falsely represents to this Court that “[t]his 

is a clear case of Fraud Upon the Court.”5 The statement is patently false and 

contrary to well-established law6.  Defendant then follows up with additional false 

and unsupported claims as she maligns Plaintiff and makes material 

misrepresentation of fact7.  The truth is Defendant Rodney Wilkinson (“Rodney”) 

did not have Dementia, let alone “so far advance[d] (as represented by Sheryl)”8, 

when the Decree was entered9, and Sheryl’s narrative (rehearsed in the civil matter 

and polished by this point, but nevertheless false) ignores the express findings of 

this Court. 

When Rodney initiated the divorce, he did not have Dementia, or 

“incapacitated”, as a matter of law.  The “onset” was only diagnosed following the 

entry of the Divorce, and a guardian wasn’t even given until six months after the 

diagnosis—and even then, the guardian’s powers were limited10. 

As noted above, the professed guardian in this action is Rodney’s sister, 

Sheryl Atterberg (“Sheryl” or “guardian”), a fact she conveniently conceals from 

this Court.  Sheryl also fails to disclose to this Court that the relationship between 

her and Rodney was estranged11, and had been for decades.  Coincidentally, Sheryl 

had absolutely no relationship with Rodney until 2020—when she appears with 

 
5 Defendant’s motion, page 2 of 23, line 9. 
6 Addressed and confirmed infra at Section IV, B, pages 12-14.  
7 Defendant’s motion, page 2 of 23, lines 14-15. 
8 Id., line16. 
9 The evidence, detailed infra, confirms that Rodney was not diagnosed with 
Dementia until May of 2019, after Rodney requested the divorce, and that diagnosis 
confirmed his Dementia was not “so far advanced” but rather at its “onset” (or very 
beginning!).  Defendant is being intentionally dishonest. 
10 See Colorado Guardianship Order, submitted herewith as Exhibit “1” for the 
Court’s convenience and review. 
11 Rodney disclosed to others his belief that Sheryl wanted to put him in a mental 
facility—something he did not want and was fearful of it happening. 
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hopes of financial gain.  Rodney made this point clear as far back as 2007 (years 

before the parties were even married), when he prepared “The Rodney E. 

Wilkinson Trust” and provides therein that “[u]nder no circumstances, is a 

distribution of income or principal to be made to either my brother, John 

Wilkinson or my sister, Sheryl Atterberg.”12 

While Sheryl professes to be Rodney’s guardian, given the nature of the 

relationship between she and Rodney, coupled with her documented lack of candor, 

there is reason to believe Rodney was not properly served, which would render the 

Order Appointing Guardian for Adult void ab initio.  Because void judgments can 

be attacked collaterally, the fact Sheryl does not validate the Colorado Order should 

be addressed and validation required—if, in fact, Sheryl can do so. 

Since Sheryl has had virtually no contact with her brother, Rodney, for 

decades, she clearly has no knowledge of what Rodney did, of his capacities, of his 

interests, of his activities, or anything else for that matter.  Thus, her claims are 

nothing more than speculation, that cannot be relied upon by this Court. 

The evidence, however, confirms that Rodney and Tessie had a close, 

profound, and caring relationship, long before they married.  Rodney’s intentions 

towards Tessie were memorialized and made clear long before they married.  In his 

trust, he provided: 

The balance of the trust assets (after expenses), of whatsoever kind and 
whosesoever situated, shall be distrusted, as follows: 
(a)  To my friend and confidant Tessie Mae Brown, (address omitted); 
(b) If the said Tessie Elma Brown shall fail to survive me, then all of the 

proceeds of the trust shall be distributed to Erica Sarai Bell (address 
omitted); 

(c) If neither of the foregoing survive me, then I direct that all trust 
proceeds be distributed to Sheryl Atterberg, my sister. 

Rodney prepared his trust in 2007.  Rodney and Tessie were married in 2009. 

 
12 See Article II of The Rodney E. Wilkinson Trust, pages 1-2, submitted herewith 
as Exhibit “2” for the Court’s convenience and review. 
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Sheryl claims Rodney sustained a “Traumatic Brain Injury” in 2017—but 

does not claim that caused his “Dementia”13—nor does Sheryl provide proof such 

diagnosis was made, or even considered, before May of 2020. Sheryl simply hopes 

that with her false claims the Court “assumes” such a fact (that is disproved by the 

evidence). Sheryl claims Rodney was suffering from Dementia before he filed his 

Answer in the Divorce Case—but submits no evidence to support her claim.  In 

fact, the Colorado Order (Guardianship Order—if not void) wasn’t signed until 

almost a year later (and the medical records confirm the onset of Rodney’s 

dementia wasn’t until May of 202014.   

Thus, as a matter of law, at the time of the parties’ divorce, Rodney had the 

legal capacity to contract.  In reality, Rodney continued working, traveling, hauling 

loads, and negotiating with various parties up to and after Rodney and Tessie 

divorced. 

As for the divorce, Rodney is the one who had initiated it.  Rodney disclosed 

he no longer wanted to own or be responsible for anything—he simply wanted to 

live at the farmhouse and work.  Rodney had his reasons, followed up to ensure it 

was being accomplished repeatedly, and the phone records confirm this fact.  

During this process, the parties reached an agreement and Rodney was content, 

stopping work only because of shoulder trouble.  Sheryl’s tale surrounding 

Rodney’s verification is pure fiction—intended only to unfairly prejudice this Court 

and deflect from the facts that disprove Sheryl’s claims.  As noted above, Rodney 

did not, in truth and as a matter of law, lack contractual capacity, and Sheryl’s 

allegation of fraud is self-serving and defamatory. 

 
13 Defendant’s Opposition, page 4 of 23, lines 16-18. 
14 Such medical records, confirming the diagnosis of the onset of dementia wasn’t 
made until May of 2020, long after the parties divorced, are submitted herewith as 
Exhibit “3” for the Court’s convenience and review. 
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Sheryl has no idea what Tessie did or did not do, and her speculation is just 

that—bearing no relation to the truth (which is why there is a conspicuous absence 

of proof, support, or evidence to substantiate her defamatory claims).  For example, 

Sheryl maligns Tessie and claims she “absconded” with one million dollars in 2013 

(while the parties were married).  What Sheryl conceals from the Court is the 

parties had just sold some real estate for 2.5 million dollars15.  At Rodney’s 

insistence, Rodney and Tessie placed 1million in her account and the balance in his 

account.  Rodney also deposited the approximate 300k from the sale of the corn that 

had been harvested in his account.  On top of that, Rodney placed the proceeds of 

the combines and related equipment that was sold in his account.  Sheryl’s 

characterization of “absconding” is absurd and patently false. 

Continuing, the $60,000 in gold coins Sheryl blames Tessie for taking is 

incorrect in value and blame is misplaced.  In reality, the value of the gold coins 

was closer to $100k and were given to a woman named Tanika Stevenson by 

Rodney.  During the parties’ marriage, Rodney gave Ms. Stevenson considerable 

amounts of money, took a 20k loan and gave her the proceeds, and Tessie has 

cancelled checks substantiating this fact.  Sheryl’s confusion of the two women is 

understandable given her absence in her brother’s life. 

Between 2014 and 2018, Rodney lived with a woman named Jill Strnad.  

During this time, Rodney was still driving truck and gave her his income, with the 

belief she would take care of the bills and expenses.  Jill chose to write checks to 

herself (again, Tessie has some of the cancelled checks), and neglected paying the 

bills, property taxes, income taxes, and legal bills.  In late 2018, Rodney contacted 

Tessie, promised he was done with Jill and Tanika, hoping to reconcile their 

relationship.  During this time Rodney worked, had contractual capacity, and 

 
15 A copy of the settlement statement is submitted herewith as Exhibit “4” for the 
Court’s convenience and review. 
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showed no signs of “dementia”.  The truth is, during the marriage Rodney 

committed considerable marital waste and admitted that fact on multiple occasions. 

After the divorce the parties remained close and got along well.  Tessie 

visited him on numerous occasions, spoke to him often, and there is no truth the 

Divorce was “rushed”; it was initiated by Rodney, discussed, considered, and 

reflective of Rodney’s intent (expressed long before the parties were even 

married)16.  Phone records will substantiate these facts, and Plaintiff’s medical 

records confirm Tessie remained involved in Rodney’s life and was concerned with 

his well-being.   

In the Spring of 2020, Rodney’s health began to decline and Tessie was 

concerned17 and solicited and provided assistance (unlike Sheryl).  In fact, Sheryl 

concedes Tessie contacted social services, law enforcement—as well as neighbors, 

and sending her son to check on him on multiple occasions18. Indeed, the very 

medical record that Sheryl submits shows that in May of 2020 a diagnosis of the 

onset of dementia was made19. 

  Sheryl is desperate, and quick to state, that Rodney lacked contractual 

capacity five months earlier when he negotiated and agreed to the terms of the 

Divorce and verified his Answer.  However, the Trust Rodney prepared 13 years 

before the divorce, and prior to the parties’ marriage, confirms the provisions of the 

Decree are consistent with his intent.   

As noted above, in May of 2020, the diagnosis of dementia noted it was at its 

onset (the beginning)20.  The Court did not find him in need of a guardian 

 
16 See Exhibit “2”. 
17 As confirmed through Rodney’s Trust, created before the parties’ marriage, the 
parties had feelings and interest in one another, regardless of status.  This concern 
and closeness remained after the divorce as well. 
18 See Defendant’s motion, page 7 of 23, lines 13. 
19 See Exhibit “3”. 
20 Sheryl argues dementia “is a slow-progressing disease that does not appear 
overnight”, but conceals the fact that with dementia, contractual incapacity likewise 
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(assuming the Order was properly obtained and isn’t void).  Sheryl is unable to 

provide any support for her claim Rodney lacked contractual incapacity at the time 

of divorce. 

In sum, Sheryl wasn’t even involved in Rodney’s life until the latter part of 

2020.  Sheryl’s narrative is patently false, defamatory, and self-serving.  The 

evidence shows she lacks credibility and the litigation that she has commenced is 

improper, flawed, and inconsistent with established precedent.   

III. 

Statement of Facts 

 Rodney and Tessie married on March 22, 2009 and divorced at the beginning 

of 2020.  Rodney initiated the divorce, directing and monitoring its progress and 

content of the pleadings21. The Decree confirms Rodney’s substantial marital waste 

(which Rodney admitted and considered), represents their agreement, and found 

and confirmed by the Court as being equitable and fair22. 

 Notice of Entry of the Decree of Divorce was filed on February 13, 2020.  

Rodney did not seek reconsideration or move for any of the relief that was available 

pursuant to NRCP 60(b)—because it reflected his agreement and was unwarranted.  

Almost a year has passed and the Decree is, and remains, valid and enforceable23. 

Because there was no factual or legal basis in which to set aside the Decree, 

Sheryl’s endeavors to manipulate the legal system by filing a baseless motion that 

completely ignores the above, that conceals the dispositive facts that are fatal to 

 
does not occur overnight or accompany the initial diagnosis.  While Guardian ship 
was established on November 23, 2020, Rodney’s contractual incapacity wasn’t 
determined. 
21 If requested of the Court, Tessie has phone recordings between the parties 
confirming this fact as well as the absence of dementia.   
22 See e.g. Decree, page 6, line 5; page 11, line 20; page 12, line 6, submitted 
herewith as Exhibit “5” for the Court’s convenience and review.  Sheryl’s portrayal 
of the Notary is patently false. 
23 See Cavell v. Cavell, 90 Nev. 334, 526 P.2d 330 (1974). 
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Sheryl’s undertaking.  The Stipulated Decree is an enforceable contract and the law 

of the case24--and while Sheryl may choose to ignore this fact, this Court certainly 

cannot. 

 According to Sheryl, on November 23, 2020, “a Court in Lincoln County, 

Colorado appointed Mrs. Atterberg Mr. Wilkinson’s guardian due to the fact that 

Mr. Wilkinson was and is unable manage his finances or otherwise care for himself 

as a result of cognitive impairment”25.  Review of the Colorado Court’s Order, 

however, confirms Sheryl’s statement is false and deliberately misleading. In fact, 

the Colorado Order expressly excluded guardian (Sheryl) from managing the day-

to-day finances for Rodney26 (Rodney’s medical records likewise disprove Sheryl’s 

representations).  Notably, Rodney does not, and did not assert he is, or was, unable 

and/or lacked the capacity to enter into contractual relations. 

IV. 

Legal Analysis 

A.  Standard of Review. 

Sheryl cites to N.R.C.P. 60(b) as support “to redress any injustices that may 

have resulted due to excusable neglect or a wrong of an opposing party.” 

Shamelessly, however, Sheryl ignores the fact there has been no injustice, no 

excusable neglect, and certainly no wrong committed by Tessie. 

Apparently, Sheryl concedes she is unable, and not entitled, to obtain relief 

pursuant to NRCP 60(b) because absolutely no relief of any kind was sought 

 
24 See Grisham v. Grisham, 128 Nev. 679, 289 P.3d 230 (2012); see also Kramer v. 
Kramer, 96 Nev. 759, 616 P.2d 395 (1980) (holding “A decree of divorce cannot be 
modified or set aside except as provided by rule or statute”). 
25 Sheryl’s Complaint at ¶ 17.     
26 See Colorado Order, page 2 of 3, paragraph 9, submitted herewith as Exhibit “1” 
for the Court’s convenience and review.  The Court also prevented Sheryl from 
obtaining hospital or institutional care and treatment for mental illness, 
developmental disability, alcoholism or substance abuse against the will of the 
ward.  (Paragraph 13). 
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within the six-month time period designated for such relief.  Though not 

addressed by Sheryl27,  the “fraud” in NRCP 60 (b) (committed by an opposing 

party) is different from “fraud upon the Court” (generally committed by an officer 

of the court)28 and Sheryl misapplies the applicability and content of NRCP 60(d).  

In sum, the facts of this case and applicable law firmly establish Sheryl is 

unable to obtain any relief from this Court pursuant to NRCP 60(b). 

B. There has been no fraud upon the Court 

  Sheryl submits she is entitled to file the instant motion claiming Tessie 

committed “fraud upon the court”—which renders failing to seek relief within six 

months as set forth in NRCP 60(b) meaningless.  Sheryl is grossly mistaken.  

Indeed, Sheryl, misstates, misapplies, and clearly misunderstands what constitutes 

“fraud upon the court”. 

As this Court knows, “[a] party seeking to vacate based on fraud upon 

the court "bears a heavy burden" and must provide clear and convincing evidence 

establishing the attorney defrauded the court29. Further, NRCP 60(b) motions based 

on fraud upon the court are available only "to prevent a grave miscarriage of 

justice."30  

In Occhiuto, quoting United States v. International Telephone & Tel. Corp., 

the Nevada Supreme Court held31:   

 
27 Through ignorance or a misunderstanding of the law at best, or at worst, 
intentionally ignored and concealed from the Court, making such conduct a 
violation of candor and sanctionable. 
28 See Occhiuto v. Occhiuto, 97 Nev. 143, 625 P.2d 568 (1981); Mohney v. Eliades, 
2017 Nev. App. Unpub. LEXIS 742; NC-DSH, Inc. v. Garner, 125 Nev. 647, 218 
P.3d 853 (2009); Estate of Adams v. Fallini, 132 Nev. 814, 386 P.3d 621 (2016). 
29 NC-DSH, supra, at 657-58, 218 P.3d at 860-61. 
30 Bonnell v. Lawrence, 128 Nev. 394, 404, 282 P.3d 712, 715 (2012) (quoting 
United States v. Beggeerly, 524 U.S. 38, 47, 118 S.Ct. 1862) (internal quotation 
marks omitted).  
31 349 F.Supp. 22, 29 (D.Conn. 1972), aff’d without opinion, 410 U.S. 919 (1973). 
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Generally speaking, only the most egregious misconduct, such as 
bribery of a judge or members of a jury, or the fabrication of evidence 
by a party in which an attorney is implicated, will constitute 
a fraud on the court. See Hazel-Atlas Glass Co. v. Hartford-Empire 
Co., 322 U.S. 238, 64 S.Ct. 997, 88 L.Ed. 1250 (1944); Root Refin. 
Co. v. Universal Oil Products, 169 F.2d 514 (3d Cir. 1948); 7 J. W. 
Moore, Federal Practice, para. 60.33 at 510-11. Less egregious 
misconduct, such as nondisclosure to the court of facts allegedly 
pertinent to the matter before it will not ordinarily rise to the level 
of fraud on the court. See Kupferman v. Consolidated Research & 
Mfg. Co., 459 F.2d 1072 (2d Cir. 1972); see also England v. Doyle, 
281 F.2d 304, 310 (9th Cir. 1960) (emphasis supplied). 

The Court further noted: 

 "[I]n order to set aside a judgment or order because of fraud upon 
the court under Rule 60(b) . . . it is necessary to show an 
unconscionable plan or scheme which is designed to improperly 
influence the court in its decision." England v. Doyle, supra, 281 F.2d 
at 309. See also United States v. Standard Oil Co. of California, 73 
F.R.D. 612, 615 (N.D.Cal. 1977). 

As noted in NC-DSH, Inc. v. Garner32, “fraud upon the court” does not mean 

any conduct of a party or lawyer of which the court disapproves and thus defined 

“fraud upon the court” as embracing: 

only that species of fraud which does, or attempts to, subvert the 
integrity of the court itself, or is a fraud perpetrated by officers of the 
court so that the judicial machinery cannot perform in the usual 
manner its impartial task of adjudging cases … and relief should be 
denied in the absence of such conduct. 

NC-DSH recognized fraudulent conduct of an attorney/officer of the Court, 

and distinguished “fraud ‘by an opposing party’” from that by an attorney.  "Where 

a judgment is obtained by fraud perpetrated by an attorney acting as an officer of 

the court, the judgment may be attacked for fraud on the court." Indeed, fraud on 

the court: 

 
32 125 Nev. 647, 218 P.3d 853 (2009) (dealing with fraud committed by a lawyer 
who is an officer of the court—noting attorney involvement is “a signal 
characteristic of many of the fraud on the court cases). 
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embrace[s] only that species of fraud which does, or attempts to, 
subvert the integrity of the court itself, or is a fraud perpetrated by 
officers of the court so that the judicial machinery cannot perform in 
the usual manner its impartial task of adjudging cases … and relief 
should be denied in the absence of such conduct33 (emphasis 
supplied). 

 "Where a judgment is obtained by fraud perpetrated by an attorney acting as 

an officer of the court, the judgment may be attacked for fraud on the court."34  

“Although not present in all fraud on the court cases, attorney involvement in 

the fraud is a signal characteristic of many.” (citation omitted)35  

While it has been established that Tessie engaged in no fraudulent conduct, 

nor committed any fraud, assuming arguendo such, it could not constitute fraud 

upon the court.  Rodney initiated the divorce, Rodney instructed Tessie to begin the 

process and Rodney monitored the status and actively negotiated its terms36.  As a 

matter of law, Rodney was not incapacitated nor lacked contractual capacity.   

In conclusion, Sheryl’s position and argument is untenable. Accordingly, the 

entirety of Sheryl’s argument and application of “fraud on the court” is inaccurate, 

factually and legally unsustainable, and misplaced. 

 

 
33 NC-DSH, supra; Demjanjuk v. Petrovsky, 10 F.3d 338, 352 (6th Cir. 
1994) (citing 7 Moore's Federal Practice § 60.33 (2d ed. 1978) (now at 
12 Moore's Federal Practice, § 60.21[4][a] (3d ed. 2009)); Kupferman, 459 F.2d at 
1078 (noting the Second Circuit adopted Moore's formulation); In re Intermagnetics 
America, Inc., 926 F.2d 912, 916 (9th Cir. 1991) (also adopting Moore's 
formulation); see Occhiuto, 97 Nev. at 146 n.2, 625 P.2d at 570 n.2 (citing this 
section of Moore's but without referring to the passage quoted in Demjanjuk). 
34 Id., In re Tri-Cran, 98 B.R. 609, 616 (Bankr. D. Mass. 1989). 
35 Id; see also Demjanjuk, 10 F.3d at 352 (noting that "[c]ases dealing with fraud on 
the court often turn on whether the improper actions are those of parties alone, or if 
the attorneys in the case are involved"); Eastern Financing Corp. v. JSC Alchevsk 
Iron, 258 F.R.D. 76, 85 (S.D.N.Y. 2008) (analyzing Hazel-Atlas, 
Kupferman, and H. K. Porter Co. in these terms). 
36 Including Rodney providing Tessie a list of the vehicles he wanted included in 
the divorce settlement. 
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C. The Decree of Divorce is fair and equitable as a matter of law.  

It is significant to note that Rodney had, as a matter of law, contractual 

capacity at the time the parties divorced and did not lack the legal capacity to 

initiate, direct, and negotiate the Decree and execute his Answer.  Indeed, Rodney 

wasn’t even appointed a guardian until almost a year later—and even then, Sheryl’s 

powers were limited.  Moreover, that court did not declare Rodney lacked 

contractual capacity—and did not declare Rodney lacked contractual capacity when 

negotiating and agreeing to the terms of the Decree (which are consistent with the 

Trust Rodney prepared years before the parties ever married)37. 

Furthermore, as a matter of law38, the Decree of Divorce (and Order of this 

Court) expressly provides that the terms of the Divorce Decree are “fair and 

reasonable” and “equitable and just”39—making Sheryl’s claim the Decree did “not 

provide for an equitable distribution” patently false and serves only to further 

confirm Sheryl’s bad faith and greed.  Sheryl needlessly argues “unconscionability” 

knowing it is not applicable in this matter, hoping to mislead this Court with use of 

the catchphrase alone. 

Sheryl violates the duty of candor that is owed to this Court when she falsely 

claims Tessie exploited Rodney’s limitations—because Rodney was legally 

competent, had contractual capacity as a matter of law, and he initiated the 

decree and negotiated terms that were admittedly fair, equitable and just.  Sheryl 

defames Tessie when stating Tessie knew of Rodney’s “diminished capacity” 

because at the time of their divorce he had no “diminished capacity”.  Lastly, 

Sheryl lies when she states the divorce was fundamentally unfair because it 

 
37 Assuming the Colorado Guardianship Order is not void, Sheryl’s failure to seek 
such relief at that time now precludes/estops her (res judicata, claim preclusion, 
issue preclusion) from seeking such relief at this time. 
38 See Section D, infra. 
39 Decree, Exhibit “5”, page 11, line 20, page 12, line 6. 
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represents Rodney’s intent and directives (consistent with his Trust of 2007—prior 

to the parties’ marriage). 

Further, the legal authority cited by Sheryl provides no support to her 

position.  The case of DelVecchio v. DelVecchio, 143 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1962), 

addressed antenuptial agreements, the disclosure rule stated therein has been 

superseded by statute, and is inapplicable in this case.  Sheryl also cites Petersen v. 

Petersen40, that involves a default judgment and a NRCP 60(b) motion that was 

filed within 6 months.  Significantly, the Petersen Court expressly noted it was not 

commenting on the merits of the claim she was “defrauded”.  The case is inapposite 

to the case at hand. 

In the case of Carlson v. Carlson41 that Sheryl cites, the Husband 

“misrepresented the value of his pension” and “the record clearly demonstrate[d] 

that the representations were the result of either mistake or fraud.” In this case, 

there was no misrepresentation and no misunderstanding as to the value of the 

property and debt that was distributed. Carlson has no application to this case. 

Lastly, the final case cited by Sheryl, Cook v. Cook42, is likewise immaterial 

and unrelated to this matter.  In Cook, the Husband, who drafted the property 

settlement agreement, was an attorney who breached his duty of full and fair 

disclosure and notably43, the wife timely filed a motion to vacate the divorce decree. 

 
40 105 Nev. 133, 771 P.2d 159 (1989). 
41 108 Nev. 358, 832 P.2d 380 (1992). 
42 112 Nev. 179, 912 P.2d 264 (1996). 
43 The Cook court noted the Husbands efforts of drafting the agreement constituted 
an attorney-client relationship giving rise to legal ramifications. These ramifications 
included (1) the agreement being subject to this court's close scrutiny on appeal; the 
attorney having a duty of full and fair disclosure; and the attorney having to  
demonstrate by a higher standard of clear and satisfactory evidence that the 
transaction was fundamentally fair and free of professional 
overreaching. Williams, 108 Nev. at 471-472, 836 P.2d at 618. 
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In this case, Rodney memorialized his intent to dispose of his assets to Tessie 

long before the parties were married when he prepared his Trust.  Rodney also 

admitted to, and disclosed, significant marital waste and freely negotiated the terms 

of the Decree of Divorce.  The parties deemed the Decree to be fair and reasonable, 

equitable and just, and is, by no means, unconscionable.  Lastly, contrary to 

Sheryl’s misguided interpretation, the division of the marital estate was equitable 

and consistent with the policy and laws of this State. 

D. The Decree was, at best, voidable—not void. 

Sheryl confuses (or mischaracterizes) void judgments with voidable ones. As 

a threshold matter, the Decree of Divorce is valid, enforceable, and precludes 

Sheryl from setting aside the Decree of Divorce between Rodney and Tessie.  There 

is no question the Family Court had jurisdiction to render the Decree of Divorce, 

and neither party challenged its terms or validity.  Accordingly, even if there was a 

sufficient basis to set aside the Decree (which there was not), the time for doing so 

has long lapsed.44  It is long-established law that when a court has jurisdiction the 

Decree would be voidable, not void.  Hence, Sheryl’s claim the Decree is “void” 

and “void ab intio [sic]” is contrary to the law. 

“If a judgment is deemed void, it is considered a legal nullity which can be 

attacked collaterally45.  It is significant to note that only a void judgment may be 

attacked collaterally46.  In State Eng’r v. Sustacha, the Nevada Supreme Court 

confirmed that only void judgments are subject to collateral attack and ruled that 

one district court could not set aside another district court’s order 47. 

Citing Rohlfing v. District Court, 106 Nev. 902, 906, 803 P.2d 659, 662 

(1990), the Sustacha Court affirmed "[t]he district courts of this state have equal 

 
44 See NRCP 60(b). 
45 In re Vance, 2009 Tex. App. LEXIS 9154.  
46 See State ex rel. Smith v. Sixth Judicial Dist. Court, 63 Nev. 249 (1946). 
47 108 Nev. 223, 826 P.2d 959 (1992). 
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and coextensive jurisdiction; therefore, the various district courts lack jurisdiction 

to review the acts of other district courts.”48 

A voidable judgment, on the other hand, is one rendered by a court having 

jurisdiction, and although seemingly valid, is irregular and erroneous49.  

Significantly, a voidable decree will have the effect of a proper legal order unless 

its propriety is successfully challenged through a direct attack on the merits50.   

In this case, the Decree of Divorce is a valid and enforceable Decree.  As a 

voidable Decree (at best), no challenge was made and as a matter of law, remains 

binding and the law of the case.  Because there was no challenge to the Decree of 

Divorce between Rodney and Tessie before Judge Forsberg, the Decree remains 

valid, enforceable, and binding.  More importantly, there has been an agreement 

and a judicial determination and Order that the terms of the Divorce Decree are 

“fair and reasonable” and “equitable and just”51—making Sheryl’s claim the Decree 

did “not provide for an equitable distribution” false as a matter of law. 

As noted above, this Court clearly had jurisdiction and the Decree was 

voidable—not void.  Sheryl’s argument of void judgments and the inapplicability of 

the “six-month limitation” to void judgments, has no bearing to this case.  Rodney 

was not legally incapacitated nor lacked contractual capacity when he submitted to 

 
48 108 Nev. at 226.  
49 Black’s law Dictionary (7 Ed. 1999) 848.   
50 State ex rel. Newitt v. Fourth Judicial Dist. Court, 61 Nev. 164, 121 P.2d 442 
(1942); Vaile v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 118 Nev. 262, 44 P.3d 506 (2002) 
(court action “valid until it is set aside by a direct proceeding for that 
purpose”);Orrway Motor Service, Inc. v. Illinois Commerce Com., 353 N.E.2d 253 
(1976); Moore v. Moore, 75 Nev. 189, 336 P.2d 1073 (1959) (voidable Decree is 
valid until vacated and set aside (cited with approval on many occasions and [court] 
consider[ed] the rule well settled.); State ex rel. Newitt v. Fourth Judicial Dist. 
Court, 61 Nev. 164, 121 P.2d 442 (1942) (holding voidable judgment valid and 
subsisting unless set aside).  
51 Decree, Exhibit “5”, page 11, line 20, page 12, line 6. 
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the jurisdiction of this Court and Sheryl’s representations are baseless, false, and 

disproved by the evidence. 

Further, it is significant to note Sheryl fails to provide any legal authority to 

support her argument that the Court lacked personal jurisdiction over Rodney.  This 

failure alone enables this Court to deem that an admission that her motion is not 

meritorious52.  Sheryl also fails to address those factors that must be considered 

when a party seeks to defeat personal jurisdiction53. 

E. Sheryl’s insatiable quest for financial gain does not entitle her a 
fishing expedition or an evidentiary hearing. 

Sheryl admits she doesn’t know what caused Rodney’s dementia,54 but there 

is no question Rodney wasn’t born with it and upon reaching the age of maturity, 

obtained legal competence and contractual capacity, and exercised such throughout 

his life.  There was no judicial determination that Rodney was legally incompetent 

or lacked contractual capacity, and a guardianship wasn’t established until long 

after he initiated and obtained a divorce from Tessie, and thus, as a matter of law, 

he was both legally competent and capable of entering into contractual relations at 

the time he negotiated the terms of the Decree and executed his Answer. 

Further, the medical records that Sheryl disclosed to the Court reveal the 

onset of dementia began in May of 2020—again, after the Decree was obtained.  

Despite Sheryl’s admissions, coupled with the evidence and applicable precedent, 

 
52 See EDCR 5.503. 
53 See Mattel, Inc. v. Greiner & Hausser GmbH, 354 F.3d 857 (9th Cir. Ct. of App. 
2003), wherein the court identified the following factors: (1) the extent of the 
defendants' purposeful interjection into the forum state's affairs; (2) the burden on 
the defendant of defending in the forum; (3) the extent of conflict with the 
sovereignty of the defendants' state; (4) the forum state's interest in adjudicating the 
dispute; (5) the most efficient judicial resolution of the controversy; (6) the 
importance of the forum to the plaintiff's interest in convenient and effective relief; 
and (7) the existence of an alternative forum. No one factor is dispositive; rather, 
the court balances all seven. 
54 Sheryl’s “Opposition” in the civil action, submitted herewith as Exhibit “7” for 
the Court’s convenience and review, page 3 of 18, lines 25-26. 
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Sheryl’s claim Rodney was legally incompetent and lacked contractual capacity is 

disingenuous and untenable.  It is significant to note Sheryl admits, following the 

parties divorce, that Tessie arranged for law enforcement and social services to 

check on Rodney, and even sending her son on occasions, to see how Rodney was 

doing.   

Notably, none of these agencies—skilled and entrusted with recognizing 

legally incapable persons, found Rodney to be lacking in capacity.  When Sheryl 

sought guardianship, the Court did not find Rodney was legally incapacitated or 

lacked contractual capacity when the Decree was entered.  Hence, there is no legal 

or factual basis for Sheryl seeking to set aside the Decree, or for this Court to 

sanction a fishing expedition. 

Sheryl’s reliance on Hale v. Hale55, is misplaced and the ruling actually 

confirms the impropriety of Sheryl commencing litigation before this Court or in 

the civil action and reinforces the corresponding need to dismiss the action in its 

entirety. In Hale, the appellant represented himself in the summary divorce 

proceedings and subsequently filed a 60(b) motion to set aside the decree based 

upon his dementia.  Unlike this case, Hale had been diagnosed with dementia 

before executing the agreement—the onset of Rodney’s dementia did not happen 

until after the divorce.  Hale confirms that the Decree of Divorce under such 

circumstances is voidable—and must be brought before the Court that executed the 

Decree.  Seeking such relief before this Court is improper and disallowed by law. 

It is also significant to note that in Hale, the Decree of Divorce was not set 

aside.  The only party that is acting in bad faith is Sheryl.   

 

 

 

 
55 130 Nev. 1184 (2014). 
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F. Tessie is entitled to an award of Attorney’s fees and costs for 
having to respond to and oppose a baseless motion that was 
filed in bad faith. 

Sheryl should be ordered to pay Tessie’s attorney’s fees and costs for having 

to respond to a Motion to Dismiss devoid of merit, riddled with gross misstatements 

of fact and law, and lacking of dispositive facts.  NRS 18.010 provides, in pertinent 

part, as follows: 

1. The compensation of an attorney and counselor for his or her 
services is governed by agreement, express or implied, which is not 
restrained by law. 

2. In addition to the cases where an allowance is authorized by specific 
statute, the court may make an allowance of attorney’s fees to a 
prevailing party: 

(a) When the prevailing party has not recovered more than $20,000; or 

(b) Without regard to the recovery sought, when the court finds that 
the claim, counterclaim, cross-claim or third-party complaint or 
defense of the opposing party was brought or maintained without 
reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party. The court shall 
liberally construe the provisions of this paragraph in favor of 
awarding attorney’s fees in all appropriate situations. It is the intent 
of the Legislature that the court award attorney’s fees pursuant to this 
paragraph and impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada 
Rules of Civil Procedure in all appropriate situations to punish for and 
deter frivolous or vexatious claims and defenses because such claims 
and defenses overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely 
resolution of meritorious claims and increase the costs of engaging in 
business and providing professional services to the public. 

Additionally, E.D.C.R. 7.60(b) states: 

(b) The court may, after notice and an opportunity to be heard, impose 
upon an attorney or a party any and all sanctions which may, under the 
facts of the case, be reasonable, including the imposition of fines, costs 
or attorney’s fees when an attorney or a party without just cause: 

(1) Presents to the court a motion or an opposition to a motion which 
is obviously frivolous, unnecessary or unwarranted. 

(2) Fails to prepare for a presentation. 
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(3) So multiplies the proceedings in a case as to increase costs 
unreasonably and vexatiously. 

(4) Fails or refuses to comply with these rules. 

(5) Fails or refuses to comply with any order of a judge of the court. 

Further, NRS 7.085 also provides this Court with the requisite authority to 

make Tessie whole for Sheryl’s bad faith and frivolous filing.  Therein, it states: 

1. If a court finds that an attorney has: 

(a) Filed, maintained or defended a civil action or proceeding in any 
court in this State and such action or defense is not well-grounded in 
fact or is not warranted by existing law or by an argument for 
changing the existing law that is made in good faith; or 

(b) Unreasonably and vexatiously extended a civil action or 
proceeding before any court in this State, the court shall require the 
attorney personally to pay the additional costs, expenses and attorney's 
fees reasonably incurred because of such conduct. 

2. The court shall liberally construe the provisions of this section in 
favor of awarding costs, expenses and attorney's fees in all 
appropriate situations. It is the intent of the Legislature that the court 
award costs, expenses and attorney's fees pursuant to this section and 
impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada Rules of Civil 
Procedure in all appropriate situations to punish for and deter frivolous 
or vexatious claims and defenses because such claims and defenses 
overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely resolution of 
meritorious claims and increase the costs of engaging in business and 
providing professional services to the public. (emphasis added). 

Thus, “NRS 7.085 allows a district court to make an attorney personally 

liable for the attorney fees and costs an opponent incurs when the attorney files, 

maintains or defends a civil action that is not well-grounded in fact or is not 

warranted by existing law or by a good-faith argument for changing the existing 

law.”56 

 
56 Watson Rounds, P.C., v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct. (Himelfarb & Associates), 131 
Nev. 783, 784, 358 P.3d 228, 230 (2015). 
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NRCP 11 also enables this Court to impose sanctions if any pleading, written 

motion, or other paper is filed that is being filed for any improper purpose, such as 

to “harass, cause unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of litigation.” 

The Nevada Supreme Court, in Watson Rounds, held that NRCP 11 and NRS 

7.085 each represent a distinct, independent mechanism for sanctioning attorney 

misconduct. 131 Nev. at 791. 

With specific reference to Family Law matters, the Court has adopted “well-

known basic elements,” which in addition to hourly time schedule kept by the 

attorney, are to be considered in determining the reasonable value of an attorney’s 

services and qualities, commonly referred to as the Brunzell factors. The Nevada 

Supreme Court in Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank57identifies those factors 

as follows: 

1. The Qualities of the Advocate: his ability, his training, education, 
experience, professional standing and skill; 

2. The Character of the Work to Be Done: its difficulty, its intricacy, 
its importance, time and skill required, the responsibility imposed 
and the prominence and character of the parties where they affect 
the importance of the litigation; 

3. The Work Actually Performed by the Lawyer: the skill, time and 
attention given to the work; and  

4. The Result: whether the attorney was successful and what benefits 
were derived. 

Each of these factors should be given consideration, and no one element 

should predominate or be given undue weight.58 Additional guidance is provided by 

reviewing the “attorney’s fees” cases most often cited in Family Law.59 The 

 
5785 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31, 33 (1969)   
58Miller v. Wilfong, 121 Nev. 619, 119 P.3d 727, 730 (2005).   
59 Fletcher v. Fletcher, 89 Nev. 540, 516 P.2d 103 (1973); Levy v. Levy, 96 Nev. 
902, 620 P.2d 860 (1980), Hybarger v. Hybarger, 103 Nev. 255, 737 P.2d 889 
(1987). 
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Brunzell factors require counsel to make a representation as to the “qualities of the 

advocate,” the character and difficulty of the work performed, and the work 

actually performed by the attorney. 

Those factors, when applied to the facts of this case, warrant Sheryl being 

directed to reimburse Tessie for the attorney’s fees she has incurred having to bring 

Sheryl’s bad faith, material misrepresentations, and violation of her duty of candor, 

to the attention of this court.   

Tessie’s counsel has considerable experience in the fields of civil and family 

law litigation.  As demonstrated, supra, the work presented has been legally and 

factually adequate and representative of a diligent review of the applicable law and 

relevant facts.  Tessie should be awarded fees sufficient to reimburse her for the 

fees she has incurred in preparing this opposition and countermotion. 

V. 

Conclusion 

 Sheryl is opportunistic, greedy, and dishonest.  Her quest for financial gain, 

now that she has obtained guardianship over an estranged brother, has resulted in a 

frantic maneuver to mislead the Court.  Sheryl grossly misstates the facts and 

applicable law.  Based on the foregoing Tessie respectfully requests this Court to 

enter an Order:  

1.  Denying Defendant’s motion in its entirety; 

2. Awarding Tessie attorney’s fees for having to respond to a patently 

frivolous motion and to misstatements of fact and law; and 

 

 

 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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3. Addressing any additional relief this Court deems necessary. 

Dated this 2nd day of February, 2021. 

 

 
          HOFLAND & TOMSHECK 
               By:_/s/ Bradley J. Hofland__________ 
           Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
           State Bar of Nevada No. 6343 
           228 South 4th Street, First Floor 
           Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

         (702) 895-6760 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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                      DECLARATION OF TESSIE ELMA ALMARIO 

 I, Tessie Elma Almario, declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of 

the State of Nevada that the following is true and correct.  

1. That I am the Plaintiff in this action and am competent to testify as to the 

matters stated herein.   

2. I have read the foregoing opposition and countermotion, and the factual 

averments it contains are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, except as to 

those matters based on information and belief, and as to those matters, I believe 

them to be true.  Those factual averments contained in the referenced filing are 

incorporated here as if set forth in full. 

 DATED this 2nd day of February, 2021. 

 

               /s/ Tessie Elma Almario   
               Tessie Elma Almario 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of HOFLAND & 

TOMSHECK, that pursuant to Administrative Order 14-2, NEFCR 9, and NRCP 

5(b), on the 2nd day of February, 2021, I served the forgoing PLAINTIFF’S 

OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE 

DIVORCE DECREE PURSUANT TO NRCP 60(b) and COUNTERMOTION 

FOR ATTORNEY’S FEES AND RELATED RELIEF on the following parties 

by E-Service through the Odyssey filing system and/or U.S. Mail addressed as 

follows: 
 
  
 JAMES W. KWON, ESQ. 
 jkwon@jwklawfirm.com  
 Attorney for Defendant  

 
 BY: _/s/ Nikki Woulfe    ____________ 
 An Employee of HOFLAND & TOMSHECK 
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EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT, FAMILY DIVISION 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

TESSIE ELMA ALMARIO,  
 
                                Plaintiff, 
 
vs. 
 
SHERYL ATTERBERG, ON BEHALF 
OF HER WARD  
RODNEY WILKINSON,  
 
  
                               Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)

CASE NO.:  D-19-596071-D 
DEPT NO.:  U 
 
Date of Hearing:   February 4, 2021 
Time of Hearing:  1:30 p.m. 
  
APPENDIX OF EXHIBITS IN 
SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFF’S 
OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S 
MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE 
DIVORCE DECREE PURSUANT 
TO NRCP 60(b) and 
COUNTERMOTION FOR 
ATTORNEY’S FEES AND 
RELATED RELIEF. 

Plaintiff, Tessie Elma Almario appearing by and through her attorney, 

Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. of Hofland & Tomsheck, respectfully submits her 

Appendix of Exhibits in Support of Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendant’s Motion to 

Set Aside the Divorce Decree pursuant to NRCP 60(b) and Countermotion for 

Attorney’s fees and Related Relief. 

 

 
Exhibit Description Bate Stamp 

No.  
1 Order Appointing Guardian for Adult filed November 

23, 2020 
PLT000001-
PLT000006

HOFLAND & TOMSHECK
Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 6343 
bradh@hoflandlaw.com 
228 South 4th Street, 1st Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Telephone: (702) 895-6760 
Facsimile: (702) 731-6910 
Attorney for Plaintiff, Tessie Elma Almario 
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Case Number: D-19-596071-D

Electronically Filed
2/2/2021 2:15 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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2 The Rodney E. Wilkinson Trust PLT000007-
PLT000015

3 Medical Records for Rodney Wilkinson – Not 
Produced -Submitted Under Seal

PLT000016-
PLT000017

4 U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development 
Settlement Statement

PLT000018 

5 Decree of Divorce filed in Case No. D-19-596071-D 
filed February 12, 2020

PLT000019-
PLT000033

6 Defendant’s Notice of Motion and Motion to Dismiss 
Complaint Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(1), NRCP 
12(b)(5), and NRCP 12(h)(2) and Defendant’s Reply 
to Plaintiff’s Opposition To Defendant’s Motion To 
Dismiss Complaint Pursuant To NRCP 12(B)(1), 
NRCP 12(B)(5), And NRCP 12(H)(2); And 
Defendant’s Opposition To Plaintiff’s Countermotion 
For Relief Pursuant To NRCP 60 in Case No. A-20-
825785-C 

PLT000034-
PLT000100 

7 Plaintiff’s Opposition to Defendant’s Notice of 
Motion and motion to Dismiss Complaint Pursuant to 
NRCP 12(b)(1), NRCP 12(b)(5), and NRCP 12(h)(2) 
and Plaintiff’s Countermotion for Relief Pursuant to 
NRCP 60 in Case No. A-20-825-785-C

PLT000101-
PLT000121 

 

 DATED this 2nd day of February, 2021. 
 
            HOFLAND & TOMSHECK 
 
      By: /s/ Bradley J. Hofland    
                 Bradley J. Hofland, Esq. 
                Nevada Bar No. 6343 
                 228 South 4th Street, 1st Floor 
                Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
               Telephone: (702) 895-6760   
                 Attorney for Plaintiff,  
           Tessie Elma Almario 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I am an employee of Hofland & Tomsheck, that Pursuant 

to NRCP 5(b) and EDCR 7.26, I certify that on the 2nd day of February, 2021, I 

served the foregoing APPENDIX OF EXHIBITS IN SUPPORT OF 

PLAINTIFF’S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO SET ASIDE 

THE DIVORCE DECREE PURSUANT TO NRCP 60(b) and 

COUNTERMOTION FOR ATTORNEY’S FEES AND RELATED RELIEF 

on the following party via E-Service through Odyssey and/or U.S. Mail addressed, 

as follows:  

 
 JAMES W. KWON, ESQ. 
 jkwon@jwklawfirm.com  
 Attorney for Defendant  

 
  
 By:/s/ Nikki Woulfe       
  An Employee of Hofland & Tomsheck 

 

 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “1” 















 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “2” 





















 

 

 

Submitted Under Seal 

PLT000016-PLT000017 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “3” 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “4” 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “5” 

































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “6” 









































































































































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT “7” 
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